
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF IOWA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
) Criminal No.  3:09-cr-117

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO
) MOTION TO DISMISS FOR

SCOTT RYAN DEMUTH, ) PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 
)

Defendant. )

The United States, by and through the United States Attorney for the Southern

District of Iowa, and his Assistant United States Attorney, Clifford R. Cronk III, does

hereby respond in opposition to the defendant’s motion to dismiss the second

superseding indictment for prosecutorial misconduct.

I.  Procedural Background

On November 18, 2009, the defendant, Scott Ryan Demuth, was charged by

Indictment with conspiracy to commit animal enterprise terrorism in violation of 18

U.S.C. §§ 43(a) and (b)(2).  (R. 2).  On February 4, 2010, defendant filed a motion to

dismiss the indictment alleging certain errors in the indictment including vagueness (R.

48).  On February 17, 2010, the grand jury returned a superseding indictment charging

Demuth with conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 43 and extending the date of the

conspiracy to August of 2005.  (R. 55).  On February 23, 2010, arraignment was held on

the superseding indictment and trial was set for May 3, 2010; a pre-trial conference was

scheduled for April 12, 2010.  (R. 61) .  A pre-trial motion deadline was set for April 8,
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2010, which was also the date set for the Government to provide notice of other crimes,

wrongs, or bad acts evidence (FRE 404(b)) it intended to offer against Demuth.  (R. 61).   

On April 8, 2010, the Government timely filed its notice of Rule 404(b) evidence

providing notice that the Government intended to offer evidence of another act of

animal enterprise terrorism that occurred in Howard Lake, Minnesota in 2006, as well

as other evidence.  (R. 90).  The Government also filed a motion to continue the trial of

this matter and cited numerous reasons for the motion. (R. 91).  On April 12, 2010, a pre-

trial conference was held.   At that conference, with the concurrence of defense counsel,

the trial date was vacated and no new date was set.  The court gave the Government

additional time to file responses to defendant’s pre-trial motions.  

On April 13, 2010, the grand jury returned a second superseding indictment

charging Demuth with conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 43, adding the Howard Lake

animal enterprise to the indictment and extending the time of the conspiracy to May of

2006. (R. 94). 

 On April 14, 2010, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss the indictment for

prosecutorial misconduct. 

II. Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss for Prosecutorial Misconduct

Defendant claims the second superseding indictment should be dismissed to

personally sanction the prosecutor for manipulating the judicial process in bad faith. 

As grounds for the motion, Defendant cites the Government’s motion for a continuance

and request for more time to respond to pre-trial motions on April 8, 2010 and

representations made to the court and counsel on April 12, 2010 regarding the grounds
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for these requests.  Defendant complains the Government counsel failed to notify

defense counsel, formally or informally: “it was likely that yet another superseding

indictment would be returned which would fundamentally change the nature and

scope of the indictment which was scheduled to be tried within three weeks on May 3,

2010.”  (Motion ¶ 7).   Based upon this failure, Defendant claims that Government

counsel “misled defense counsel, and possibly the court, falsely claiming that he needed

more time” when he was going to obtain another indictment.  Defendant claims the

second superseding indictment came “at the eve of the May 3rd trial date.”  (Motion ¶

9).  According to the defendant, the prosecutor, “under false pretenses, obtained the

acquiescence of the defense counsel to continue the trial. . .” (Motion ¶ 10).  Defendant

cites no case, rule, regulation, statute, or other authority in support of his motion.

III. Government response

A.  Government counsel is not at liberty to disclose, formally or informally,
matters occurring before the grand jury.

Defendant complains that Government counsel failed to notify him of matters

occurring or likely to occur before the grand jury.   But, “the proper functioning of our

grand jury system depends upon the secrecy of grand jury proceedings.” Douglas Oil

Co. v. Petrol Stops Northwest, 441 U.S. 211, 218 (1979). That secrecy safeguards vital

interests in (1) preserving the willingness and candor of witnesses called before the

grand jury; (2) not alerting the target of an investigation who might otherwise flee or

interfere with the grand jury; and (3) preserving the rights of a suspect who might later

be exonerated. Id. at 219, 99 S.Ct. 1667.  Rule 6(e)(2) protects the secrecy of grand jury
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proceedings by specifying that “[a]n attorney for the government ... shall not disclose

matters occurring before the grand jury, except as otherwise provided for in these

rules.” This phrase encompasses “not only what has occurred and what is occurring,

but also what is likely to occur,” including “the identities of witnesses or jurors, the

substance of testimony as well as actual transcripts, the strategy or direction of the

investigation, the deliberations or questions of jurors, and the like.” In re Motions of Dow

Jones & Co., 142 F.3d 496, 500 (D.C. Cir. 1998)(internal quotation omitted).  In order to

protect these interests, “[b]oth  Congress and th[e] Court have consistently stood ready

to defend [grand jury secrecy] against unwarranted intrusion. . . .” United States v. Sells

Engineering, Inc., 463 U.S. 418, 425, 103 S.Ct. 3133, 77 L.Ed.2d 743 (1983).

Exceptions permit disclosure: (i) to an attorney for the Government in the

performance of that attorney's duty; (ii) to such government personnel as an attorney

for the Government deems necessary to assist an attorney in enforcing federal criminal

law; or (iii) to another federal grand jury. Rule 6(e)(3)(A) and (3)(C)(iii). The Rule also

permits, when directed by a court, disclosure: (i) preliminary to or in connection with a

judicial proceeding; (ii) at the request of a criminal defendant if the defendant shows

cause; or (iii) to an appropriate state or local official for the purpose of enforcing state

criminal law. See Rule 6( e)(3)(C).

Here, the prosecutor did not advise the defendant concerning any matter

occurring before the grand jury.  It would have been prosecutorial misconduct for the

prosecutor to advise the defendant of such. See Bank of Nova Scotia v. United States,  487

U.S. 250, 263 (1988) (knowing violation of Rule 6 may be punished as a contempt of
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 The grand jury may consider new evidence of criminal wrong-doing no matter1

when the case against the subject of the new indictment is set for trial.  See United States
v. Wadlington, 233 F.3d 1067, 1074 (8th Cir. 2000) (indictment returned 20 days before
scheduled trial date not a violation).

court; the court may direct a prosecutor to show cause why he should not be disciplined

and request the bar or the Department of Justice to initiate disciplinary proceedings

against him, the court may also chastise the prosecutor in a published opinion.) 

Therefore, no misconduct occurred when the prosecutor failed to notify the defendant

that a superseding indictment might be forthcoming.1

B. Defendant has failed to show that the Government misled the
defendant or the court.

Defendant appears to complain that representations by the Government cajoled

him into agreeing to a continuance of the trial.  He does not claim that the information

in the Government’s motion for an extension of time and to continue the trial are false. 

Instead, he claims that the real reason the prosecutor needed more time, and a

continuance, is because it was securing a superseding indictment.  This claim is not and

cannot be supported by the record.  The matters cited by the Government as grounds

for the relief sought are all supported by the court’s records or can be supported if

further evidence is necessary. 

C.   The second superseding indictment was not obtained on the eve of trial.

A review of the record reveals that Defendant has misstated the record.  The date

the second superseding indictment was returned, April 14, 2010, was not on the eve of

trial.  It is clear that two days earlier, the May 3, 2010, trial date had been vacated and a

new date had not been set.  Since then, the court has set a date of September 13, 2010, to
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satisfy defendant’s request for additional time. 

D.  Dismissal is not the remedy for prosecutorial misconduct.

As a general matter, a district court may not dismiss an indictment for errors

committed by the prosecutor unless such errors prejudiced the defendant.  See Bank of

Nova Scotia v. United States, supra at 254.  Dismissal is an “extreme remedy.” United

States v. Two Eagle, 318 F.3d 785, 793 (8th Cir. 2003)(grand jury bias).  Dismissal of an

indictment is inappropriate absent a showing of actual prejudice. United States v. Wilson,

565 F.3d 1059, 1070 (8th Cir. 2009)(grand jury witness misconduct). See also United States

v. Fenner, 2010 WL 1190535 * 5 (8th Cir. 2010)(alleged prosecutorial misconduct before

the grand jury).

Here, based upon the weak allegations of the defendant, there is no basis to

dismiss the superseding indictment.  First, there is no link between the alleged

misconduct and the return of the superseding indictment.  If the court determines that

there has been a prima facie showing of misconduct, it can hold a hearing and impose

sanctions; dismissal of the indictment under these circumstances is completely

unwarranted. Moreover, a showing of prejudice is necessary before the indictment can

be dismissed.  Clearly, the defendant has failed to show any prejudice resulted from the

continuance that was received prior to the issuance of the second superseding

indictment. 

WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully requests that the court deny the

motion to dismiss for prosecutorial misconduct without further hearing or argument.
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Respectfully Submitted,

Nicholas A. Klinefeldt
United States Attorney

    By:  /s/ Clifford R. Cronk III               
Clifford R. Cronk III
Assistant U. S. Attorney
131 East 4th Street, Suite 310
Davenport,  IA 52801
Tel: (563) 449-5432
Fax: (563) 449-5433
Email: cliff.cronk@usdoj.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on May 3, 2010, I

electronically filed the foregoing with the

Clerk of Court using the CM ECF system.  I hereby

certify that a copy of this document was served 

on the parties or attorneys of record by:

         U.S. Mail             Fax           Hand Delivery

  X     ECF/Electronic filing           Other means

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By: /s/                                        
Paralegal Specialist
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